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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2009

OR

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from              to             

Commission file number 001-32319

Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)
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Maryland 20-1296886
(State or Other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or Organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)

903 Calle Amanecer, Suite 100

San Clemente, California 92673
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant�s telephone number, including area code: (949) 369-4000

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  ¨    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer,� and �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer  x Accelerated filer  ¨ Non-accelerated filer  ¨ Smaller reporting company  ¨
(Do not check if a smaller

reporting company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes  ¨    No  x

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer�s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

54,501,130 shares of Common Stock, $0.01 par value, as of May 1, 2009
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PART I�FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements
SUNSTONE HOTEL INVESTORS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

March 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 136,158 $ 179,042
Restricted cash 37,771 41,176
Accounts receivable, net 36,944 35,428
Due from affiliates 116 109
Inventories 3,026 3,183
Prepaid expenses 8,824 7,431

Total current assets 222,839 266,369
Investment in hotel properties, net 2,437,038 2,452,811
Other real estate, net 14,300 14,640
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures 27,260 28,770
Deferred financing costs, net 9,572 11,379
Goodwill 9,804 13,404
Other assets, net 15,471 18,238

Total assets $ 2,736,284 $ 2,805,611

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 18,474 $ 18,396
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 7,947 8,878
Due to Interstate SHP 16,311 16,088
Dividends payable 5,137 12,499
Other current liabilities 30,241 32,439
Current portion of notes payable 13,703 13,002

Total current liabilities 91,813 101,302
Notes payable, less current portion 1,620,507 1,683,256
Other liabilities 6,888 6,545

Total liabilities 1,719,208 1,791,103
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Preferred stock, Series C Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value, 4,102,564
shares authorized, issued and outstanding at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, liquidation preference of
$24.375 per share 99,746 99,696
Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized. 8.0% Series A Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock, 7,050,000 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, stated at

176,250 176,250
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liquidation preference of $25.00 per share
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized, 53,044,251 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2009 and 47,864,654 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 530 479
Additional paid in capital 859,424 829,274
Retained earnings 267,169 260,659
Cumulative dividends (382,115) (347,922)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,928) (3,928)

Total stockholders� equity 917,330 914,812

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 2,736,284 $ 2,805,611

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNSTONE HOTEL INVESTORS, INC.

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2009

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008

REVENUES
Room $ 122,631 $ 146,886
Food and beverage 51,602 59,752
Other operating 14,383 16,062

Total revenues 188,616 222,700

OPERATING EXPENSES
Room 29,050 33,346
Food and beverage 37,171 44,595
Other operating 8,273 9,070
Advertising and promotion 12,331 12,904
Repairs and maintenance 8,519 9,013
Utilities 8,610 8,813
Franchise costs 6,957 7,855
Property tax, ground lease, and insurance 12,116 13,605
Property general and administrative 22,872 26,524
Corporate overhead 5,769 6,722
Depreciation and amortization 29,214 29,365
Goodwill and other impairment losses 3,716 �  

Total operating expenses 184,598 201,812

Operating income 4,018 20,888
Equity in net losses of unconsolidated joint ventures (1,517) (1,466)
Interest and other income 622 578
Interest expense (24,633) (25,344)
Gain on extinguishment of debt 28,020 �  

Income (loss) from continuing operations 6,510 (5,344)
Income from discontinued operations �  5,537

NET INCOME 6,510 193
Dividends paid on unvested restricted stock compensation (447) (239)
Preferred stock dividends and accretion (5,187) (5,232)

INCOME AVAILABLE (LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE) TO COMMON
STOCKHOLDERS $ 876 $ (5,278)

Basic per share amounts:
Income (loss) from continuing operations available (attributable) to common
stockholders $ 0.02 $ (0.18)
Income from discontinued operations �  0.09

Basic income available (loss attributable) to common stockholders per common share $ 0.02 $ (0.09)
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Diluted per share amounts:
Income (loss) from continuing operations available (attributable) to common
stockholders $ 0.02 $ (0.18)
Income from discontinued operations �  0.09

Diluted income available (loss attributable) to common stockholders per common
share $ 0.02 $ (0.09)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 52,205 58,717

Diluted 52,205 58,717

Dividends declared per common share $ �  $ 0.35

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNSTONE HOTEL INVESTORS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

(In thousands, except share data)

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Additional
Paid in
Capital

Number
of

Shares Amount
Number of

Shares Amount
Retained
Earnings

Cumulative
Dividends

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss Total

Balance at December 31,
2008 7,050,000 $ 176,250 47,864,654 $ 479 $ 829,274 $ 260,659 $ (347,922) $ (3,928) $ 914,812
Vesting of restricted common
stock (unaudited) 130,440 1 1,194 1,195
Common dividends at $0.60
per share year to date
(unaudited) 5,049,157 50 29,006 (29,056) �  
Series A preferred dividends
and dividends payable at
$0.50 per share year to date
(unaudited) (3,525) (3,525)
Series C preferred dividends
and dividends payable at
$0.393 per share year to date
(unaudited) (1,612) (1,612)
Accretion of discount on
Series C preferred stock
(unaudited) (50) (50)
Net income and
comprehensive income
(unaudited) 6,510 6,510

Balance at March 31, 2009
(unaudited) 7,050,000 $ 176,250 53,044,251 $ 530 $ 859,424 $ 267,169 $ (382,115) $ (3,928) $ 917,330

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNSTONE HOTEL INVESTORS, INC.

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2009

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 6,510 $ 193
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Bad debt expense 179 165
Gain on sale of other assets (319) �  
Gain on extinguishment of debt (28,020) �  
Depreciation 29,107 29,826
Amortization of deferred franchise fees and other intangibles 107 1,749
Amortization of deferred financing costs 417 419
Amortization of loan discounts 684 862
Amortization of deferred stock compensation 1,128 1,049
Goodwill and other impairment losses 3,716 �  
Equity in net losses of unconsolidated joint ventures 1,517 1,466
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash 751 (131)
Accounts receivable (1,695) (9,033)
Due from affiliates (7) 800
Inventories 157 (97)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (802) 434
Accounts payable and other liabilities (1,209) 732
Accrued payroll and employee benefits (933) (6,380)
Due to Interstate SHP 223 (692)
Discontinued operations �  (259)

Net cash provided by operating activities 11,511 21,103

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of hotel properties and other assets 2,584 �  
Restricted cash � replacement reserve 2,654 1,206
Cash received from unconsolidated joint ventures �  4,000
Acquisitions of hotel properties �  (11)
Renovations and additions to hotel properties and other real estate (13,812) (31,809)

Net cash used in investing activities (8,574) (26,614)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment for repurchases of outstanding common stock �  (11,827)
Proceeds from notes payable �  12,000
Payments on notes payable (33,322) (14,038)
Dividends paid (12,499) (25,995)

Net cash used in financing activities (45,821) (39,860)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (42,884) (45,371)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 179,042 66,088
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Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 136,158 $ 20,717

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest $ 27,021 $ 27,798

NONCASH INVESTING ACTIVITY
Amortization of deferred stock compensation � construction activities $ 62 $ 227

Amortization of deferred stock compensation � unconsolidated joint venture $ 5 $ �  

NONCASH FINANCING ACTIVITY
Issuance of stock dividend $ 29,056 $ �  

Dividends payable $ 5,137 $ 25,784

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNSTONE HOTEL INVESTORS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Description of Business

Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc. (the �Company�) was incorporated in Maryland on June 28, 2004 in anticipation of an initial public offering of
common stock, which was consummated on October 26, 2004. The Company, through its 100% controlling interest in Sunstone Hotel
Partnership, LLC (the �Operating Partnership�), of which the Company is the sole managing member, and the subsidiaries of the Operating
Partnership, including Sunstone Hotel TRS Lessee, Inc. (the �TRS Lessee�) and its subsidiaries, is currently engaged in acquiring, owning, asset
managing and renovating hotel properties. The Company may also sell certain hotel properties from time to time. The Company operates as a
real estate investment trust (�REIT�) for federal income tax purposes.

As a REIT, certain tax laws limit the amount of �non-qualifying� income the Company can earn, including income derived directly from the
operation of hotels. As a result, the Company leases all of its hotels to its TRS Lessee, which in turn enters into long-term management
agreements with third parties to manage the operations of the Company�s hotels. As of March 31, 2009, the Company owned 43 hotels, and its
third-party managers included Sunstone Hotel Properties, Inc., a division of Interstate Hotels & Resorts, Inc. (�Interstate SHP�), manager of 25 of
the Company�s hotels; subsidiaries of Marriott International, Inc. or Marriott Hotel Services, Inc. (collectively, �Marriott�), managers of 13 of the
Company�s hotels; and Hyatt Corporation (�Hyatt�), Fairmont Hotels & Resorts (U.S.) (�Fairmont�), Hilton Hotels Corporation (�Hilton�) and
Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc. (�Starwood�), collectively manager of five of the Company�s hotels. In addition to its wholly owned
hotels, the Company has a 38% equity interest in a joint venture that owns one hotel.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, and for the three months ended March 31,
2009 and March 31, 2008, include the accounts of the Company, the Operating Partnership, the TRS Lessee and their subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

The accompanying interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (�GAAP�) and in conformity with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. In the Company�s opinion, the
interim financial statements presented herein reflect all adjustments, consisting solely of normal and recurring adjustments, which are necessary
to fairly present the interim financial statements. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements included
in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 12, 2009. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation, including
changes resulting from the adoptions of FSP APB 14-1 and FSP EITF 03-6-1 discussed later in this Note 2.

Adjustment of Previously Issued Financial Statements

In May 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Staff Position No. APB 14-1, �Accounting for Convertible Debt
Instruments that may be Settled in Cash Upon Conversion� (�FSP APB 14-1�). FSP APB 14-1 requires that the liability and equity components of
convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion (including partial cash settlement) be separately accounted for in a
manner that reflects an issuer�s non-convertible debt borrowing rate at the time of issuance. As a result, the liability component is recorded at a
discount reflecting its below market interest rate. The liability component is subsequently accreted to its par value over its expected life based on
a rate of interest that reflects the issuer�s non-convertible debt borrowing rate at the time of issuance, and is reflected in the results of operations
as interest expense. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim
periods within those fiscal years. Retrospective application to all periods presented is required and early adoption was prohibited. The Operating
Partnership�s 4.60% exchangeable senior notes due 2027 (the �Senior Notes�) are within the scope of FSP APB 14-1. This change in methodology
affects the Company�s calculations of net income and earnings per share as the interest rate increases to 6.5% based on the Company�s
non-convertible debt borrowing rate at the time of issuance. This change in methodology does not increase the Company�s cash interest
payments.

5
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As a result of the adoption of this standard on January 1, 2009, the Company has restated its December 31, 2008 consolidated balance sheet, as
well as its statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

As previously
reported Adjustment As adjusted

As of December 31, 2008:
Notes payable, less current portion $ 1,699,763 $ (16,507) $ 1,683,256
Additional paid in capital $ 807,475 $ 21,799 $ 829,274
Retained earnings $ 265,951 $ (5,292) $ 260,659

For the three months ended March 31, 2008:
Interest expense $ 24,482 $ 862 $ 25,344
Loss attributable to common stockholders $ (4,177) $ (862) $ (5,039)
Net loss per share � basic and diluted $ (0.07) $ (0.02) $ (0.09)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Reporting Periods

The results the Company reports in its consolidated statements of operations are based on results reported to the Company by its hotel managers.
These hotel managers use different reporting periods. Marriott uses a fiscal year ending on the Friday closest to December 31 and reports twelve
weeks of operations for each of the first three quarters of the year, and sixteen or seventeen weeks of operations for the fourth quarter of the
year. The Company�s other hotel managers report operations on a standard monthly calendar. The Company has elected to adopt quarterly close
periods of March 31, June 30 and September 30, and an annual year end of December 31. As a result, the Company�s 2009 results of operations
for the Marriott-managed hotels include results from January 3 through March 27 for the first quarter, March 28 through June 19 for the second
quarter, June 20 through September 11 for the third quarter, and September 12 through January 1 for the fourth quarter. The Company�s 2008
results of operations for the Marriott-managed hotels include results from December 29 through March 21 for the first quarter, March 22 through
June 13 for the second quarter, June 14 through September 5 for the third quarter, and September 6 through January 2 for the fourth quarter.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

As of March 31, 2009, all of the Company�s outstanding debt had fixed interest rates. The Company�s carrying value of its debt totaled $1.6
billion as of March 31, 2009. Using Level 2 measurements, the Company estimates that the fair market value of its debt as of March 31, 2009
totaled $1.4 billion. On April 16, 2009, the Company announced that the Operating Partnership had initiated a cash tender offer to purchase any
and all outstanding Senior Notes. See Note 15�Subsequent Events.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted FASB Statement No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements� (�FAS 157�) for financial assets and
liabilities, and effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted FAS 157 for all nonfinancial assets and liabilities. FAS 157 establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements by establishing a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three
levels of the fair value hierarchy under FAS 157 are described below:

Basis of Fair Value Measurement

Level 1 Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 Inputs reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities
in active markets; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or the liability; or inputs that are derived principally
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from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs reflecting the Company�s own assumptions incorporated in valuation techniques used to determine fair value.
These assumptions are required to be consistent with market participant assumptions that are reasonably available.
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As of March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the carrying amount of certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses were representative of their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these
instruments.

The Company currently pays the premiums for a $5,000,000 split life insurance policy for its former Chief Executive Officer and current
Executive Chairman, Robert A. Alter. Under the terms of the policy, the Company is entitled to receive the greater of the cash surrender value of
the policy or the premiums paid by the Company following the termination of Mr. Alter�s employment with the Company. Within 60 days
following the date of the termination of the split dollar policy during Mr. Alter�s lifetime, Mr. Alter may obtain a release of such obligation by
paying the Company the greater of the total amount of the premiums paid by the Company or the then-current cash surrender value. The
Company has valued this policy using Level 1 measurements at $1.7 million as of both March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. These amounts
are included in other assets, net in the accompanying balance sheets.

The Company also has a Retirement Benefit Agreement with Mr. Alter. Pursuant to the Retirement Benefit Agreement, Mr. Alter may defer a
portion of his compensation. Mr. Alter may amend the amount of his compensation to be deferred from time to time; provided, however, that
any such amendment must be in compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company will match 50% of Mr. Alter�s
deferrals for each year, up to a maximum of $1,500 for that year. Earnings on Mr. Alter�s deferrals and the Company�s matching contributions are
an amount equal to the amount which would have been earned on such deferrals and matching contributions had they been paid as premiums on
the life insurance policy noted above in accordance with the investment designations made by Mr. Alter. The balance in Mr. Alter�s deferred
compensation account is payable over a period of time following the termination of his employment with the Company, regardless of the reason
for such termination. The Company has valued this agreement using Level 1 measurements at $1.7 million as of both March 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008. These amounts are included in accrued payroll and employee benefits in the accompanying balance sheets.

The Company has analyzed the carrying value of its goodwill using Level 3 measurements including a discounted cash flow analysis taking into
account each related property�s expected cash flow from operations, holding period and proceeds from the potential disposition of the property.
The factors addressed in determining estimated proceeds from disposition include anticipated operating cash flow in the year of potential
disposition and terminal capitalization rate. The Company�s judgment is required in determining the discount rate applied to estimated cash
flows, the terminal capitalization rate, the growth rate of each property�s projected revenues and expenses, the need for capital expenditures, as
well as specific market and economic conditions. The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments measured on a recurring basis
for the three months ended March 31, 2009 (in thousands):

Balance of goodwill at January 1, 2009 $ 13,404
Impairment loss included in earnings (3,600)

Balance of goodwill at March 31, 2009 $ 9,804

The following table presents our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at March 31, 2009 (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date
Total

March 31, 2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Life insurance policy $ 1,669 $ 1,669 $ �  $ �  
Goodwill 9,804 �  �  9,804

Total assets $ 11,473 $ 1,669 $ �  $ 9,804

Liabilities:
Retirement benefit agreement $ 1,669 $ 1,669 $ �  $ �  

Total liabilities $ 1,669 $ 1,669 $ �  $ �  
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable primarily represents receivables from hotel guests who occupy hotel rooms and utilize hotel services. Accounts receivable
also includes, among other things, receivables from customers who utilize the Company�s laundry facilities in Salt Lake City, Utah, and
Rochester, Minnesota, as well as tenants who lease space in the Company�s hotels. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts
sufficient to cover potential credit losses. The Company�s accounts receivable at both March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 includes an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.3 million. At March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $7.2 million and
$4.9 million, respectively, in accounts receivable with one customer who is operating under a contract with the United States government. No
amounts have been reserved for this receivable as of either March 31, 2009 or December 31, 2008 as all amounts have been deemed to be
collectible.

Deferred Financing Costs

Total amortization of deferred financing costs was $0.4 million for both the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, all of which was
included in interest expense.

Earnings Per Share

The Company applies the two-class method as required by the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) Issue No. 03-6, �Participating
Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings per Share� (�EITF 03-6�). EITF 03-6 requires the net income per
share for each class of stock (common stock and convertible preferred stock) to be calculated assuming 100% of the Company�s net income is
distributed as dividends to each class of stock based on their contractual rights. To the extent the Company has undistributed earnings in any
calendar quarter, the Company will follow the two-class method of computing earnings per share.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted FASB Staff Position No. EITF 03-6-1, �Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based
Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities� (�FSP EITF 03-6-1�). FSP EITF 03-6-1 addresses whether instruments granted in share-based
payment awards are participating securities prior to vesting, and therefore, need to be included in the earnings allocation when computing
earnings per share under the two-class method as described in FASB Statement No. 128, �Earnings per Share� (�FAS 128�). In accordance with FSP
EITF 03-6-1, unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or
unpaid) are participating securities and shall be included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the two-class method. Upon
adoption, all prior-period earnings per share data presented were adjusted retrospectively with no material impact. For the three months ended
March 31, 2009 and 2008, earnings representing nonforfeitable dividends of $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively, were allocated to the
participating securities.

In accordance with FAS 128, basic earnings available (loss attributable) to common stockholders per common share is computed based on the
weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings available (loss attributable) to common
stockholders per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period,
plus potential common shares considered outstanding during the period, as long as the inclusion of such awards is not anti-dilutive. Potential
common shares consist of unvested restricted stock awards (using the treasury stock method), the incremental common shares issuable upon the
exercise of stock options (using the treasury stock method) and the conversion of the Company�s Series C Cumulative Convertible Redeemable
Preferred Stock (�Series C preferred stock�).

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2009

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Numerator:
Net income $ 6,510 $ 193
Less dividends paid on unvested restricted stock compensation (447) (239)
Less preferred stock dividends and accretion (5,187) (5,232)

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings available (loss attributable)
to common stockholders $ 876 (5,278)
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Denominator:
Weighted average basic and diluted common shares outstanding 52,205 58,717

Basic earnings available (loss attributable) to common stockholders
per common share $ 0.02 $ (0.09)

Diluted earnings available (loss attributable) to common stockholders
per common share $ 0.02 $ (0.09)
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The Company�s common stock options have been excluded from the above calculation of earnings per share for the three months ended
March 31, 2009 as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. The Company�s shares of Series C preferred stock, unvested restricted stock
units and shares associated with its long-term incentive plan have been excluded from the above calculation of earnings per share for the three
months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

3. Investment in Hotel Properties

Investment in hotel properties, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

(Unaudited)
Land $ 294,343 $ 294,460
Buildings and improvements 2,291,430 2,281,217
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 306,621 302,798
Intangibles 35,736 35,736
Franchise fees 1,530 1,530
Construction in process 11,054 11,912

2,940,714 2,927,653
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (503,676) (474,842)

$ 2,437,038 $ 2,452,811

In January 2009, the Company sold surplus artwork for net proceeds of $0.3 million and a net gain of $0.3 million.

In March 2009, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $0.1 million on a parcel of land adjacent to one of its hotels in anticipation of its
sale subsequent to March 31, 2009.

4. Discontinued Operations

In May 2008, the Company sold the Hyatt Regency Century Plaza for net proceeds of $358.8 million and a net gain of $42.1 million. In addition,
as part of a strategic plan to dispose of non-core hotel assets, the Company sold one other hotel property during 2008 for net proceeds of $3.6
million, including a $2.0 million note receivable which was paid by the buyer in January 2009, and a net loss of $16.1 million. These two hotel
properties met the �held for sale� and �discontinued operations� criteria in accordance with FASB Statement No. 144, �Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.� No hotels were sold during the first quarter of 2009.

The following sets forth the discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008, related to hotel properties that have been sold
(in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008

(Unaudited)
Operating revenues $ 26,062
Operating expenses (18,315)
Depreciation and amortization expense (2,210)

Income from discontinued operations $ 5,537
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5. Other Real Estate

Other real estate, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

(Unaudited)
Land $ 3,824 $ 3,824
Buildings and improvements 10,157 10,159
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5,663 5,554
Construction in process 40 5

19,684 19,542
Accumulated depreciation (5,572) (5,355)

14,112 14,187
Land held for investment 188 453

$ 14,300 $ 14,640

In January 2009, the Company sold a vacant parcel of land for net proceeds of $0.3 million. No gain or loss was recognized on the sale.

As of March 31, 2009, other real estate, net included the Company�s two commercial laundry facilities, an office building and one vacant parcel
of land.

6. Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

In December 2007, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with Strategic Hotels & Resorts, Inc. (�Strategic�) to own and operate
BuyEfficient, LLC (�BuyEfficient�), an electronic purchasing platform that allows members to procure food, operating supplies, furniture, fixtures
and equipment. Under the terms of the agreement, Strategic acquired a 50% interest in BuyEfficient from the Company. In December 2006, the
Company entered into a joint venture agreement to obtain a 38% interest in the 460-room Doubletree Guest Suites Hotel Times Square in New
York City, New York. The Company accounts for both of these ownership interests using the equity method. The Company�s accounting policies
are consistent with those of the unconsolidated joint ventures.

As part of the Company�s agreement with Strategic, the cost of BuyEfficient�s participation in the Company�s Long-Term Incentive Plan continues
to be borne solely by the Company. In accordance with EITF No. 00-12, �Accounting by an Investor for Stock-Based Compensation Granted to
Employees of an Equity Method Investee,� the Company expenses the cost of stock-based compensation granted to employees of BuyEfficient as
incurred to the extent the Company�s claim on BuyEfficient�s book value has not been increased. The Company recognizes this stock-based
compensation expense based on fair value in accordance with FASB Statement No. 123(R), �Share-Based Payment� and EITF No. 96-18,
�Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.�
During the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense for BuyEfficient of
$7,000 and $49,000, respectively, all of which was included in equity in net losses of unconsolidated joint ventures.

Annual dividends on the Company�s equity investment in the Doubletree Guest Suites Hotel Times Square are senior to the returns on equity to
other investors in this joint venture, and began at 8.0% and will increase to 9.25% over a nine-year period. In addition, the Company�s equity
investment is entitled to receive a pro-rata share of any excess equity distributions made by the joint venture. The Company received zero and
$4.0 million in distributions during the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

7. Goodwill

The Company follows the requirements of FASB Statement No. 142, �Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets� (�FAS 142�). Under FAS 142,
goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are subject to annual impairment tests. As a result, the carrying value of goodwill
allocated to the hotel properties and other real estate is reviewed at least annually and when facts and circumstances suggest that it may be
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impaired. Such review entails comparing the carrying value of the individual hotel property (the reporting unit) including the allocated goodwill
to the fair value determined for that hotel property. If the aggregate carrying value of the hotel property exceeds the fair value, the goodwill of
the hotel property is impaired to the extent of the difference between the fair value and the aggregate carrying value, not to exceed the carrying
amount of the allocated goodwill. The Company�s annual impairment evaluation is performed each year during the Company�s fourth quarter.
During the three months ended March 31, 2009,
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the economic environment relating to four of the Company�s properties continued to decline, implying that an indication of impairment may
exist. Accordingly, the Company determined that a step one analysis should be performed as of March 31, 2009. In conjunction with its step one
impairment evaluation, the Company determined that the goodwill associated with four of its hotels may be impaired as of March 31, 2009, and,
accordingly, the Company performed a step two analysis and recorded an impairment loss of $3.6 million to goodwill and other impairment
losses.

As of March 31, 2009, the Company�s market capitalization is less than the book value of its equity. The Company believes that the disparity
between the book value of its assets over the market value of its business is in large part a consequence of current market conditions, including
risks related to the debt markets, the Company�s industry and the broader economy. While the Company believes that some of these risks are
unique to specific companies, some represent global industry risks. The Company has given consideration to these risks, and their impact upon
the respective reporting units� fair values in evaluating the impairment of its goodwill, and has reported impairments where it deems appropriate.
The Company believes that the fair value of its remaining reporting units that contain goodwill at March 31, 2009 exceeds the book value of
those units for a variety of reasons, including the effect of accumulated depreciation on book value and certain property enhancements, which
have resulted in improved operating performance.

8. Other Assets

Other assets, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

(Unaudited)
Property and equipment, net $ 1,022 $ 1,067
Deferred costs 1,686 1,432
Interest receivable 1,033 984
Other receivables 9,042 12,130
Other 2,688 2,625

$ 15,471 $ 18,238

In January 2009, the Company received $2.0 million as payment on a note receivable from the buyer of a hotel the Company sold in December
2008.

9. Notes Payable

Notes payable consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

(Unaudited)
Notes payable requiring payments of interest and principal, with fixed rates ranging from 4.98%
to 9.88%; maturing at dates ranging from December 2010 through May 2021. The notes are
collateralized by first deeds of trust on 33 hotel properties and one laundry facility. $ 1,459,796 $ 1,462,765
Senior Notes. The notes are guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. 186,012 250,000

1,645,808 1,712,765
Less: discount on Senior Notes (11,598) (16,507)

1,634,210 1,696,258
Less: current portion (13,703) (13,002)
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$ 1,620,507 $ 1,683,256

The Company was not in default of the loan covenants on any of its notes payable at either March 31, 2009 or December 31, 2008.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1. FSP APB 14-1 requires that the liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments
that may be settled in cash upon conversion (including partial cash settlement) be separately accounted for in a manner that reflects an issuer�s
non-convertible debt borrowing rate at the time of issuance. As a result, the liability component is recorded at a discount reflecting its below
market interest rate. The liability component is subsequently accreted to its par value over
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its expected life based on a rate of interest that reflects the issuer�s non-convertible debt borrowing rate at the time of issuance, and is reflected in
the results of operations as interest expense. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Retrospective application to all periods presented is required and early
adoption was prohibited. The Senior Notes are within the scope of FSP APB 14-1. This change in methodology affects the Company�s
calculations of net income and earnings per share, but does not increase the Company�s cash interest payments. As a result of the adoption of this
standard on January 1, 2009, the Company restated its December 31, 2008 balance sheet by decreasing its notes payable balance by $16.5
million, with a corresponding increase to equity. The $16.5 million was comprised of the original debt discount adjustment of $21.8 million less
discount accretion of $5.3 million from June 2007 through December 2008. In addition, the Company recognized an additional $0.7 million in
interest expense during the three months ended March 31, 2009, and retroactively increased its interest expense by $0.9 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2008 as the interest rate increases to 6.5% based on the Company�s non-convertible debt borrowing rate at the time of
issuance.

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company repurchased $64.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes for $30.8 million,
including $0.4 million in interest, using its available cash on hand. After the repurchase, such Senior Notes were cancelled. The Company wrote
off $1.4 million in deferred financing fees and $4.2 million of the Senior Note discount, and recognized a net gain of $28.0 million on this early
extinguishment of debt. On April 16, 2009, the Company announced that the Operating Partnership had initiated a cash tender offer to purchase
any and all outstanding Senior Notes. See Note 15�Subsequent Events.

As of March 31, 2009, the Company had no outstanding indebtedness under its $200.0 million credit facility (the �credit facility�), and had $3.5
million in outstanding irrevocable letters of credit backed by the credit facility, leaving, as of that date, up to $196.5 million available under the
credit facility. The Company is subject to compliance with various covenants under the credit facility, which from time to time may result in a
reduction in, or the complete elimination of, funds available under the credit facility.

Total interest incurred and expensed on the notes payable was as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2009

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Continuing operations:
Interest expense $ 23,532 $ 24,063
Accretion of Senior Notes 684 862
Amortization of deferred financing fees 417 419

$ 24,633 $ 25,344

10. Series C Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

In July 2005, the Company sold 4,102,564 shares of Series C preferred stock with a liquidation preference of $24.375 per share to Security
Capital Preferred Growth, Incorporated, an investment vehicle advised by Security Capital Research & Management Incorporated, for gross
proceeds of $99.0 million, or $24.13 per share, which included a 1% discount to the conversion price/liquidation preference. Other costs of the
offering totaled $130,000. Net proceeds of $99.0 million were contributed to the Operating Partnership in exchange for preferred membership
units with economic terms substantially identical to the Series C preferred stock. The net proceeds were used to partially finance the Company�s
acquisition of six Renaissance hotels. As a result of the Company�s stock dividend paid in January 2009, the Series C conversion price was
adjusted to $22.23 per share. Each share of Series C preferred stock is convertible into 1.096 shares of the Company�s common stock at the
option of the holder, subject to customary antidilution provisions, including stock splits, stock dividends, non-cash distributions and
above-market issuer self-tender or exchange offers. On or after July 8, 2010, the Series C preferred stock will be redeemable at the Company�s
option, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, for cash at a redemption price of $24.375 per share, plus accrued and unpaid
dividends up to and including the redemption date. The holders of the Series C preferred stock have the right to require the Company to redeem
the Series C preferred stock in the event of any of the following: (1) a change in control of the Company, if certain conditions are not met; (2) a
REIT termination event; or (3) a termination of the Company�s listing on either the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ. In general, holders
of Series C preferred stock vote on an as-converted basis as a single class with holders of the Company�s common stock. If the Company is in
violation of certain financial ratios for four consecutive quarters, the holders have the right to elect one director to serve on the Company�s board
of directors. In addition, if the Company is in arrears on dividends on the Series C preferred stock for four or more quarters, the holders have the
right to elect additional directors to serve on the Company�s board of directors. Subject to a limited exception, holders of Series C preferred stock
cannot elect more than an aggregate of two directors. The holders are eligible to receive a participating dividend to the extent the Company�s

Edgar Filing: Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 24



dividend on its common

12

Edgar Filing: Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 25



Table of Contents

stock exceeds $0.339 per share per quarter. The quarterly dividend on the Series C preferred stock is currently $0.393 per share. If the Company
is in violation of certain financial ratios for four consecutive quarters, the holders are entitled to a default dividend (�Default Dividend�) in an
amount equal to one-half of one percent (0.50%) per quarter of the liquidation preference per share of Series C preferred stock for such dividend
period. In addition, if the Company is in arrears on dividends on the Series C preferred stock for four or more quarters, the holders are entitled to
a Default Dividend. As of March 31, 2009, the Company is in compliance with both the financial ratios and dividend covenants. The Series C
preferred stock has no maturity date and, except as set forth above, the Company is not required to redeem the Series C preferred stock at any
time. As the Series C preferred stockholders can redeem their shares in certain circumstances outside of the control of the Company, the Series C
preferred stock has been classified outside of permanent equity.

The initial carrying value of the Series C preferred stock was recorded at its sales price less costs to issue on the date of issuance. This carrying
value is periodically adjusted so that the carrying value will equal the redemption value on the redemption date, which is the earliest date
available for the Company to redeem the Series C preferred stock. The carrying value will also be periodically adjusted for any accrued and
unpaid dividends. At March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the Series C preferred stock carrying value consisted of the following (in
thousands):

March 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

(Unaudited)
Initial fair value, sales price of $99.0 million $ 99,000 $ 99,000
Redemption value accretion 746 696

$ 99,746 $ 99,696

11. Stockholders� Equity

Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock

In March 2005, the Company sold an aggregate of 4,850,000 shares of 8.0% Series A and B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (�Series A
preferred stock� and �Series B preferred stock�, respectively) with a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share for gross proceeds of $121.3 million.
Underwriting and other costs of the offering totaled $3.8 million. Net proceeds of $117.5 million were contributed to the Operating Partnership
in exchange for preferred membership units with economic terms substantially identical to the Series A and B preferred stock. Subsequent to this
offering, the shares of Series B preferred stock were exchanged for an equivalent number of shares of Series A preferred stock. The net proceeds
were used to reduce borrowings under the Company�s credit facility and for acquisitions. On or after March 17, 2010, the Series A preferred
stock will be redeemable at the Company�s option, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, for cash at a redemption price of $25.00
per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends up to and including the redemption date. Holders of Series A preferred stock generally have no
voting rights. However, if the Company is in arrears on dividends on the Series A preferred stock for six or more quarterly periods, whether or
not consecutive, holders of the Series A preferred stock will be entitled to vote at its next annual meeting and each subsequent annual meeting of
stockholders for the election of two additional directors to serve on the Company�s board of directors until all unpaid dividends and the dividend
for the then-current period with respect to the Series A preferred stock have been paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof
set aside for payment. As of March 31, 2009, the Company is in compliance with the dividend requirements. The Series A preferred stock has no
maturity date and the Company is not required to redeem the Series A preferred stock at any time.

In April 2006, the Company sold an additional 2,200,000 shares of Series A preferred stock with a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share for
gross proceeds of $55.0 million. The proceeds to the Company, net of offering costs, were $54.2 million, and were used together with proceeds
of certain debt refinancings to repay the Company�s term loan facility.
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Common Stock

In February 2008, the Company�s board of directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to $150.0 million of the Company�s common stock
on or prior to December 31, 2008 (the �2008 Repurchase Program�). During the first quarter of 2008, the Company repurchased 734,307 shares of
its common stock at a cost of $11.8 million under the 2008 Repurchase Program. In June 2008, the Company conducted a modified �Dutch
Auction� tender offer (the �Tender Offer�) through which it purchased 7,374,179 shares of its common stock for a total cost of $129.0 million. In
August 2008, the Company�s board of directors authorized an increase of $100.0 million to the 2008 Repurchase Program. During the third
quarter of 2008, the Company repurchased 3,000,000 shares of its common stock at a cost of $42.1 million. On December 11, 2008, the
Company�s board of directors terminated the 2008 Repurchase Program. Through the termination of the 2008 Repurchase Program, the Company
incurred $1.6 million in fees and commissions related to the 2008 stock repurchases, and repurchased 11,108,486 shares of its common stock at
a cost of $182.9 million.

2009 Repurchase Program and Senior Note Tender Offer

On December 11, 2008, the Company�s board of directors authorized a $200.0 million program (the �2009 Repurchase Program�) to repurchase the
Company�s common stock, Series A preferred stock, Series C preferred stock, Senior Notes or to repay secured debt on or prior to December 31,
2009. As of March 31, 2009, the Company has repurchased $64.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes for $30.8 million,
including $0.4 million in interest, pursuant to the 2009 Repurchase Program. On April 16, 2009, the Company announced that the Operating
Partnership had initiated a cash tender offer to purchase any and all outstanding Senior Notes. See Note 15�Subsequent Events.

12. Long-Term Incentive Plan

Stock Grants

Restricted shares and restricted share units granted pursuant to the Company�s Long-Term Incentive Plan generally vest over periods from one to
five years from the date of grant. The value of shares granted has been calculated based on the share price on the date of grant and is being
amortized as compensation expense in accordance with the Company�s policy on a straight-line basis over the vesting periods for the entire
award. For the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company�s expense related to these restricted shares and restricted share units
was $1.5 million and $1.6 million, respectively. The Company�s expense related to these restricted shares and restricted share units included
forfeiture expense adjustments of $20,000 and zero for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Stock Options

In April 2008, the Compensation Committee of the Company�s board of directors approved a grant of 200,000 non-qualified stock options (the
�Options�) to Robert A. Alter, the Company�s former Chief Executive Officer and current Executive Chairman. The Options will fully vest in April
2009, and will expire in April 2018. The exercise price of the Options is $17.71 per share. As of March 31, 2009, there remained $0.1 million of
unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to unvested Options which will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period.

The initial fair value of the Options was $0.7 million, and was estimated using a binomial option pricing model with the following assumptions:

Expected dividend yield 7.90%
Risk-free interest rate 3.29%
Expected volatility 26.90%
Expected life (in years) 5.5

The expected life was calculated using the simplified method as outlined in the Securities and Exchange Commission�s Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 107.

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Management Agreements
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Management agreements with the Company�s third-party hotel managers require the Company to pay between 1% and 3.5% of total revenue of
the managed hotels to the third-party managers each month as a basic management fee. Total basic management fees incurred by the Company
were $4.7 million and $6.4 million during the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Basic management fees included in
property general and administrative expense were $4.7 million and $5.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Discontinued operations included zero and $0.7 million of basic management fees for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively.
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In addition to basic management fees, provided that certain operating thresholds are met, the Company may also be required to pay certain of its
third-party managers an incentive management fee. Total incentive management fees incurred by the Company were $0.8 million and $1.0
million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, all of which were included in property general and administrative
expense.

License and Franchise Agreements

The Company has entered into license and franchise agreements related to certain of its hotel properties. The license and franchise agreements
require the Company to, among other things, pay monthly fees that are calculated based on specified percentages of certain revenues. The
license and franchise agreements generally contain specific standards for, and restrictions and limitations on, the operation and maintenance of
the hotels which are established by the franchisors to maintain uniformity in the system created by each such franchisor. Such standards
generally regulate the appearance of the hotel, quality and type of goods and services offered, signage and protection of trademarks. Compliance
with such standards may from time to time require significant expenditures for capital improvements which will be borne by the Company.

Total license and franchise costs incurred by the Company during the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 were $7.0 million and $8.3
million, respectively. Of the total license and franchise costs, royalties totaled $2.8 million and $3.4 million, for the three months ended
March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The remaining costs included advertising, reservation and priority club assessments. License and
franchise costs included in discontinued operations totaled zero and $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

Renovation and Construction Commitments

At March 31, 2009, the Company had various contracts outstanding with third parties in connection with the renovation of certain of its hotel
properties. The remaining commitments under these contracts at March 31, 2009 totaled $15.5 million.

Ground and Operating Leases

Total rent expense incurred pursuant to ground lease agreements for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 totaled $1.3 million and
$2.1 million, respectively, all of which was included in property tax, ground lease and insurance expense.

In September 2008, the Company acquired 32.6 acres of land underlying its Renaissance Orlando hotel using available cash on hand for $30.7
million, including costs of the acquisition. Prior to the acquisition, the land had been leased from a third party. As a result of this acquisition,
property tax, ground lease and insurance expense has been reduced by $0.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009.

Rent expense incurred pursuant to the lease on the corporate facility totaled $0.1 million for both the three months ended March 31, 2009 and
2008, and was included in corporate overhead expense.

Other

The Company has provided unsecured environmental indemnities to certain lenders. The Company has performed due diligence on the potential
environmental risks, including obtaining an independent environmental review from outside environmental consultants. These indemnities
obligate the Company to reimburse the indemnified parties for damages related to certain environmental matters. There is no term or damage
limitation on these indemnities; however, if an environmental matter arises, the Company could have recourse against other previous owners or a
claim against its environmental insurance policies.

At March 31, 2009, the Company had $3.5 million of outstanding irrevocable letters of credit to guaranty the Company�s financial obligations
related to workers� compensation insurance programs from prior policy years. The beneficiary may draw upon these letters of credit in the event
of a contractual default by the Company relating to each respective obligation. No draws have been made through March 31, 2009.

The Company�s five hotels and one laundry facility located in Minnesota are currently under audit by the State of Minnesota for the 2006, 2007
and 2008 tax years. The Company has recorded a liability for these audits in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5, �Accounting for
Contingencies� (�FAS 5�). FAS 5 requires a liability to be recorded based on the Company�s estimate of the probable cost of the resolution of a
contingency. The Company estimates that the ultimate liability, including penalties and interest, will range from between $0.5 million and $0.6
million, and, accordingly, recorded a liability of $0.5 million in December 2008. The
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Company expects the audits to be completed and the liability to be paid during 2009. The actual resolution of this contingency may differ from
the Company�s estimate. If the contingency is settled for an amount greater than the Company�s estimate, a future charge to income would result.
Likewise, if the contingency is settled for an amount that is less than the Company�s estimate, a future credit to income would result.

14. Transactions With Affiliates

Other Reimbursements

From time to time, the Company pays for certain expenses such as payroll, insurance and other costs on behalf of certain affiliates. The affiliates
generally reimburse such amounts on a monthly basis. At both March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, amounts owed to the Company by its
affiliates amounted to $0.1 million, and are included in due from affiliates in the accompanying balance sheets.

Transactions With Others

The Company purchases telecommunications equipment from Gemini Telemanagement Systems (�GTS�), a telecommunications equipment
provider based in Redwood City, California. The Company�s former Chief Executive Officer and current Executive Chairman, Robert A. Alter, is
a 5.2% stockholder in GTS, and his brother, Richard Alter, is the majority stockholder in GTS. The Company paid GTS $0.4 million and $0.3
million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

15. Subsequent Events

On April 16, 2009, the Company announced that the Operating Partnership had initiated a cash tender offer to purchase any and all outstanding
Senior Notes at a price of $600 per Senior Note and a solicitation of consents from the holders of the Senior Notes with respect to an amendment
of the indenture under which the Senior Notes were issued. On May 6, 2009, the Company amended this tender offer by increasing the cash
tender price from $600 to $700 per Senior Note, and increasing the cash consideration payable to holders providing their consent to the proposed
amendment to the Senior Notes� indenture from $5 to $15 per Senior Note. As of March 31, 2009, $186.0 million aggregate principal amount of
Senior Notes were outstanding. The Company expects to announce the results of this tender offer and consent solicitation shortly after its
amended expiration date on May 19, 2009.

On April 22, 2009, the Company drew down $60.0 million on its credit facility in connection with its ongoing Senior Notes tender offer.
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Cautionary Statement

This report contains forward-looking statements that have been made pursuant to the provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. In some cases, you can identify
forward-looking statements by terminology such as �anticipate,� �believe,� �continue,� �could,� �estimate,� �expect,� �intend,� �may,� �plan,� �predict,�
�project,� �should,� �will� or the negative of such terms and other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. Actual
events or results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. In evaluating these
statements, you should specifically consider the risks outlined in detail in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 12, 2009, under the caption �Risk Factors� and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
including but not limited to the following factors:

� general economic and business conditions affecting the lodging and travel industry, both nationally and locally, including a
prolonged U.S. recession;

� our need to operate as a REIT and comply with other applicable laws and regulations;

� rising operating expenses;

� relationships with and requirements of franchisors and hotel brands;

� relationships with and the performance of the managers of our hotels;

� the ground or air leases for eight of our hotels;

� performance of hotels after they are acquired;

� competition for the acquisition of hotels;

� competition in the operation of our hotels;

� our ability to complete acquisitions and dispositions;

� the need for renovations and other capital expenditures for our hotels;

� the impact of renovations on hotel operations and delays in renovations or other developments;

� changes in business strategy or acquisition or disposition plans;
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� our level of outstanding debt, including secured, unsecured, fixed and variable rate debt;

� financial and other covenants in our debt and preferred stock;

� our ability to successfully complete negotiations for an amendment to our credit facility;

� volatility in the credit or equity markets and the effect on lodging demand or our ability to obtain financing on favorable
terms or at all; and

� other events beyond our control.
These factors may cause our actual events to differ materially from the expectations expressed or implied by any forward-looking
statement. We do not undertake to update any forward-looking statement.

Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc. (the �Company,� �we� or �us�) is a Maryland corporation. We operate as a self-managed and self-administered real
estate investment trust (�REIT�). A REIT is a legal entity that directly or indirectly owns real estate assets. REITs generally are not subject to
federal income taxes at the corporate level as long as they pay stockholder dividends equivalent to 100% of their taxable income. REITs are
required to distribute to stockholders at least 90% of their taxable income. We own, directly or indirectly, 100% of the interests of Sunstone
Hotel Partnership, LLC (the �Operating Partnership�), which is the entity that directly or indirectly owns our hotel properties. We also own 100%
of the interests of our taxable REIT subsidiary, the TRS Lessee, which leases all of our hotels from the Operating Partnership, and engages third
parties to manage our hotels.
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We own primarily upper upscale and upscale hotels in the United States. As of March 31, 2009, we owned 43 hotels, of which we classify 38 as
upscale or upper upscale, two as luxury and three as mid-scale as defined by Smith Travel Research, Inc. In addition to our wholly owned hotels,
we also have a 38% equity interest in a joint venture that owns one hotel. The majority of our hotels are operated under nationally recognized
brands such as Marriott, Hyatt, Fairmont, Hilton and Starwood, which are among the most respected and widely recognized brands in the
lodging industry. We believe the largest and most stable segment of demand for hotel rooms is represented by travelers who prefer the consistent
service and quality associated with nationally recognized brands.

We seek to own hotels in urban locations that benefit from significant barriers to entry by competitors. Most of our hotels are considered
business, convention, or airport hotels, as opposed to resort hotels. Our average hotel has 339 rooms.

The demand for lodging generally fluctuates with the overall economy. We refer to these changes in demand as the lodging cycle. We seek to
employ a cycle-appropriate portfolio management strategy. During the growth phase of the lodging cycle, our strategy emphasizes active
investment, both in terms of acquisitions of new hotels and selective investments of capital into our portfolio through hotel renovations and
repositioning projects. During the mature phase of the lodging cycle, our strategy emphasizes net hotel dispositions, and during cyclical declines,
our strategy emphasizes capital preservation.

During all phases of the cycle, we seek to maximize the value of our portfolio through proactive asset management, which entails working
closely with our third-party hotel operators to develop plans and actions designed to enhance revenues and minimize operational expenses.

During the first three months of 2009, in light of the current cyclical decline, we continued to closely monitor our unrestricted cash balance. We
intend to continue to maintain higher than historical cash balances until such time as we believe the lodging cycle is approaching a recovery
phase. A portion of our cash, however, may be used to fund certain transactions such as the tender offer we commenced on April 17, 2009, (the
�Note Tender Offer�) with respect to the repurchase by the Operating Partnership of any and all of the Operating Partnership�s outstanding 4.60%
exchangeable senior notes (the �Senior Notes�). All of our debt bears fixed interest at a weighted average rate of 5.6%, and the weighted average
term to maturity of our debt is 7.7 years. Of our total debt, approximately $329.2 million matures over the next three years ($81.0 million in
2010 and $248.2 million in 2011).

Operating Activities

Operating Performance Indicators. The following performance indicators are commonly used in the hotel industry:

� occupancy;

� average daily rate, or ADR;

� revenue per available room, or RevPAR, which is the product of occupancy and ADR, but does not include food and beverage
revenue, or other operating revenue;

� comparable RevPAR growth, which we define as the change in RevPAR generated by hotels we owned as of the end of the reporting
period, but excluding those hotels that experienced material and prolonged business interruption due to renovations, re-branding or
property damage during either the most recent calendar year presented or the calendar year immediately preceding it. For hotels that
were not owned for the entirety of the comparison periods, comparable RevPAR is calculated using RevPAR generated during
periods of prior ownership. We refer to this subset of our hotels used to calculate comparable RevPAR growth as our �Comparable
Portfolio�;

� RevPAR index, which is the quotient of a hotel�s RevPAR divided by the average RevPAR of its competitors, multiplied by 100. A
RevPAR index in excess of 100 indicates a hotel is achieving higher RevPAR than its competitors. In addition to absolute RevPAR
index, we monitor changes in RevPAR index; and
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� operating flow through, which is the quotient of incremental operating income divided by incremental revenues.
Revenues. Substantially all of our revenues are derived from the operation of our hotels. Specifically, our revenues consist of the following:

� Room revenues, which is the product of the number of rooms sold and the ADR;

� Food and beverage revenues, which is comprised of revenues realized in the hotel food and beverage outlets as well as banquet and
catering events; and
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� Other operating revenues, which include ancillary hotel revenue such as performance guaranties, if any, and other items primarily
driven by occupancy such as telephone, transportation, parking, spa, entertainment and other guest services. Additionally, this
category includes, among other things, operating revenue from our two commercial laundry facilities located in Rochester,
Minnesota and Salt Lake City, Utah, as well as hotel space leased by third parties.

Expenses. Our expenses consist of the following:

� Room expense, which is primarily driven by occupancy and, therefore, has a significant correlation with room revenues;

� Food and beverage expense, which is primarily driven by food and beverage sales and banquet and catering bookings and, therefore,
has a significant correlation with food and beverage revenues;

� Other operating expense, which includes the corresponding expense of other operating revenue, advertising and promotion, repairs
and maintenance, utilities, and franchise costs;

� Property tax, ground lease and insurance expense, which includes the expenses associated with property tax, ground lease and
insurance payments, each of which is primarily a fixed expense;

� Property general and administrative expense, which includes our property-level general and administrative expenses, such as payroll
and related costs, professional fees, travel expenses, and management fees;

� Corporate overhead expense, which includes our corporate-level expenses, such as payroll and related costs, amortization of deferred
stock compensation, professional fees, travel expenses and office rent;

� Depreciation and amortization expense, which includes depreciation on our hotel buildings, improvements, furniture, fixtures and
equipment, along with amortization on our franchise fees and intangibles; and

� Goodwill and other impairment losses expense, which includes the charges we have recognized to write-off goodwill in association
with our quarterly impairment evaluation and to reduce the carrying value of assets on our balance sheet to their fair value.

Other Revenue and Expense. Other revenue and expense consists of the following:

� Equity in net losses of unconsolidated joint ventures, which includes our portion of net losses from our joint ventures;

� Interest and other income, which includes interest we have earned on our restricted and unrestricted cash accounts, as well as any
gains or losses we have recognized on sales of assets other than hotels;

� Interest expense, which includes interest expense incurred on our outstanding debt, accretion on the Senior Notes and amortization of
deferred financing fees;
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� Gain on extinguishment of debt, which includes the gain we recognized on the repurchase and cancellation of the Senior Notes;

� Dividends paid on unvested restricted stock compensation, which includes dividends earned on our unvested restricted stock awards;
and,

� Preferred stock dividends and accretion, which includes dividends earned on our Series A and Series C preferred stock and
redemption value accretion on our Series C preferred stock.

Factors Affecting Our Operating Results. The primary factors affecting our operating results include overall demand for hotel rooms, the pace
of new hotel development, or supply, and the relative performance of our operators in increasing revenue and controlling hotel operating
expenses.
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� Demand. The demand for lodging generally fluctuates with the overall economy. During 2008, as a result of the U.S. recession and
the deterioration of the credit markets, the lodging cycle entered a decline phase, with demand for lodging rooms declining by
approximately 1.6% as compared to 2007. As a result of declining demand and increases in new hotel supply, our total portfolio
RevPAR declined by 16.0% in the first quarter of 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008. We anticipate that lodging demand
will improve when liquidity is restored in the credit markets and the U.S. economy begins to strengthen. We believe such
improvements may not occur during 2009, and, therefore, we expect lodging demand to remain weak throughout the remainder of
2009. Historically, periods of declining demand are followed by extended periods of relatively strong demand, during the growth
phase of the lodging cycle. Assuming the current U.S. recession ends in the later part of 2009, we would expect hotel demand to
begin to show year-over-year increases beginning in 2010 and 2011.

� Supply. The addition of new competitive hotels affects the ability of existing hotels to drive RevPAR and profits. The development
of new hotels is largely driven by construction costs and expected performance of existing hotels. We believe the lodging industry
will eventually benefit from the current economic climate and restrictive financing environment, as new hotel construction projects
will be difficult to finance. As a result, we believe the initiation of hotel development will be constrained through 2009, with certain
hotel projects currently in the planning stages being postponed or cancelled. Given the one- to three-year timeline needed to
construct a typical hotel, we expect a window of two to four years beginning in 2010 during which the number of new hotel openings
will be limited.

� Revenues and expenses. We believe that marginal improvements in RevPAR index, even in the face of declining revenues, are a
good indicator of our operators� effectiveness in maximizing revenues. Similarly, we believe that strong operating flow through is a
good indicator of our operators� effectiveness in minimizing incremental operating expenses in the context of increasing revenues or,
conversely, in reducing operating expenses in the context of declining revenues.

With respect to improving RevPAR index, we continue to work with our hotel operators to optimize revenue management tactics while taking
into consideration market demand trends and the pricing strategies of competitor hotels in our markets. Our down-market revenue maximization
tactics may entail using alternative distribution channels, such as internet wholesalers. Our operators may also look to enter into long-term
airline crew contracts, or they may accept forms of lower-rated business that we would not typically take during periods of stronger demand. Our
revenue management tactics generally are oriented towards maintaining ADR even if the result may be a reduction in occupancy, as reductions
in RevPAR attributable to reductions in occupancy may be accompanied by decreases in occupancy-variable expenses, such as housekeeping
labor and utilities expense. Reductions in RevPAR attributable to lower ADR typically result in minimal changes in operating costs and
expenses (ADR-variable expenses are limited to revenue-based items such as credit card commissions and management and franchise fees).
Thus, reductions in RevPAR associated with lower ADR may result in minimal flow through, and as a result, lower operating margins.
Reductions in RevPAR associated with lower occupancy may result in better flow through and, as a result, less impacted operating margins.

With respect to maximizing operating flow through, we continue to work with our operators to identify operational efficiencies designed to
reduce expenses while minimally affecting guest experience. Key asset management initiatives include reducing hotel staffing levels, taking
advantage of relaxed brand standards, such as reducing complimentary amenities, and selectively closing certain food and beverage outlets. Our
operational efficiency initiatives may be difficult to implement, as most categories of variable operating expenses, such as utilities and certain
labor costs, such as housekeeping, fluctuate with changes in occupancy. Furthermore, our hotels operate with significant fixed costs, such as
general and administrative expense, insurance, property taxes, and other expenses associated with owning hotels that our operators may not be
able to directly control. For example, we have experienced increases in hourly wages, employee benefits (especially health insurance) and utility
costs, which have negatively affected our operating margins. Additionally, there are limits to how much our operators can reduce expenses
without affecting the competitiveness of our hotels.
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Operating Results The following table presents the unaudited operating results for our total portfolio for the three months ended March 31, 2009
and 2008, including the amount and percentage change in the results between the periods. The table presents the results of operations included in
the consolidated statements of operations, and includes 43 hotels (14,569 rooms) as of March 31, 2009 and 2008. The results of operations for
the two hotels that were sold in 2008 are included in income from discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008.

Three Months Ended March 31,
2009 2008 $ Change % Change

REVENUES
Room $ 122,631 $ 146,886 $ (24,255) (16.5)%
Food and beverage 51,602 59,752 (8,150) (13.6)%
Other operating 14,383 16,062 (1,679) (10.5)%

Total revenues 188,616 222,700 (34,084) (15.3)%

OPERATING EXPENSES
Hotel operating 123,027 139,201 (16,174) (11.6)%
Property general and administrative 22,872 26,524 (3,652) (13.8)%
Corporate overhead 5,769 6,722 (953) (14.2)%
Depreciation and amortization 29,214 29,365 (151) (0.5)%
Goodwill and other impairment losses 3,716 �  3,716 NA

Total operating expenses 184,598 201,812 (17,214) (8.5)%

Operating income 4,018 20,888 (16,870) (80.8)%
Equity in net losses of unconsolidated joint ventures (1,517) (1,466) (51) (3.5)%
Interest and other income 622 578 44 7.6%
Interest expense (24,633) (25,344) 711 (2.8)%
Gain on extinguishment of debt 28,020 �  28,020 NA

Income (loss) from continuing operations 6,510 (5,344) 11,854 221.8%
Income from discontinued operations �  5,537 (5,537) (100.0)%

Net income 6,510 193 6,317 3,273.1%
Dividends paid on unvested restricted stock compensation (447) (239) (208) 87.0%
Preferred stock dividends and accretion (5,187) (5,232) 45 (0.9)%

Income available (loss attributable) to common stockholders $ 876 $ (5,278) $ 6,154 116.6%

Revenues. Total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2009 was $188.6 million as compared to $222.7 million for the same period in
2008. Total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2009 included room revenue of $122.6 million, food and beverage revenue of $51.6
million and other revenue of $14.4 million. Total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2008 included room revenue of $146.9 million,
food and beverage revenue of $59.8 million and other revenue of $16.1 million.

Included in the following tables are comparisons of the key operating metrics for our total hotel portfolio for the three months ended March 31,
2009 and 2008. The comparisons do not include the results of operations for the two hotels sold in 2008.

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2009

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008 Change

Occ% ADR RevPAR Occ% ADR RevPAR Occ% ADR RevPAR
Total Hotel Portfolio (43 hotels) 65.6% $ 146.62 $ 96.18 72.3% $ 158.36 $ 114.49 (670) bps (7.4)% (16.0)%
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For the three months ended March 31, 2009, RevPAR for our total portfolio decreased 16.0% to $96.18 from the same period in 2008.
Occupancy decreased 670 basis points to 65.6%, while ADR decreased 7.4% to $146.62.

Room revenue. Room revenue decreased $24.3 million, or 16.5%, for the three months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the three months
ended March 31, 2008 due to a decrease in occupancy of $9.9 million combined with a decrease in ADR of $14.4 million.

Food and beverage revenue. Food and beverage revenue in our total hotel portfolio decreased $8.2 million, or 13.6%, for the three months ended
March 31, 2009 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2008 primarily due to declines in occupancy, as well as to fewer conventions
and meetings held at our hotels, which caused decreases in banquet, catering, restaurant and room service revenue.
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Other operating revenue. Other operating revenue in our total hotel portfolio decreased $1.7 million, or 10.5%, for the three months ended
March 31, 2009 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2008. This decrease is primarily due to decreases in telephone, retail, parking,
spa, cancellation and attrition revenue, resulting from the decrease in occupancy at our hotels and to the fact that discretionary spending by our
hotel guests has decreased in the current quarter as compared to the prior year as a result of the recession.

Hotel operating expenses. Hotel operating expenses, which are comprised of room, food and beverage, advertising and promotion, repairs and
maintenance, utilities, and franchise costs, decreased $16.2 million, or 11.6%, during the three months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the
three months ended March 31, 2008. This decrease in hotel operating expenses is primarily related to the decreases in related room, food and
beverage and other operating revenue. In addition, hotel operating expenses declined during the first three months of 2009 as compared to the
same period in 2008 due to decreases in the following expenses: departmental payroll due to staff reductions and cost cutting initiatives;
advertising and repairs and maintenance as the hotels cancelled or delayed unnecessary expenditures; utilities due to the decline in occupancy
and to reductions in gas rates at several of our hotels; franchise fees and assessments due to the decreased revenue; property taxes due to prior
year refunds assessed on several of our hotels; and ground lease due to the elimination of expense at our Renaissance Orlando hotel as we
purchased the land underlying the hotel in September 2008.

Property general and administrative expense. Property general and administrative expense in our total hotel portfolio decreased $3.7 million, or
13.8%, during the three months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2008, primarily due to decreased
management fees and credit and collection expenses due to the decline in revenue, combined with decreased payroll, employee recruitment,
employee relations, training and travel as our hotels worked to control costs during the current recession.

Corporate overhead expense. Corporate overhead expense decreased $1.0 million, or 14.2%, during the three months ended March 31, 2009 as
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2008, primarily due to decreases in audit and legal fees combined with decreases in sales tax
expense, deferred stock compensation expense and salaries and wages. These decreases were slightly offset by an increase in relocation expense.

Depreciation and amortization expense. Depreciation and amortization expense in our total hotel portfolio decreased $0.2 million, or 0.5%,
during the three months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2008.

Goodwill and other impairment losses. Goodwill and other impairment losses totaled $3.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009
compared to zero for the three months ended March 31, 2008. In conjunction with our quarterly impairment evaluation, we wrote off $3.6
million of goodwill associated with four of our hotels. In addition, we recognized a $0.1 million impairment loss on a parcel of land adjacent to
one of our hotels in anticipation of its sale subsequent to March 31, 2009.

Equity in net losses of unconsolidated joint ventures. Equity in net losses of unconsolidated joint ventures totaled $1.5 million for both the three
months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008. In the first quarter of 2009, we recognized a loss of $1.5 million on our interest in the Doubletree Guest
Suites Hotel Times Square joint venture, and a nominal loss on our BuyEfficient joint venture. In the first quarter of 2008, we recognized a loss
of $1.5 million on our interest in the Doubletree Guest Suites Hotel Times Square joint venture, and nominal income on our BuyEfficient joint
venture.

Interest and other income. Interest and other income totaled $0.6 million for both the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008. In the first
quarter of 2009, we recognized $0.3 million in interest income, and $0.3 million on the sale of artwork located in one of our hotels. In the first
quarter of 2008, we recognized $0.6 million in interest income.

Interest expense. We incurred interest expense as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2009

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008

Interest expense $ 23,532 $ 24,063
Accretion of Senior Notes 684 862
Deferred financing fees 417 419

$ 24,633 $ 25,344
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Interest expense decreased $0.7 million, or 2.8%, during the three months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the same period during 2008.
Interest expense decreased $0.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008, as a result of
decreases in our loan balances combined with our repurchase of $64.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes in February and
March 2009. In addition, during the first quarter of 2009, we adopted FASB Staff Position No. APB 14-1, �Accounting for Convertible Debt
Instruments that may be Settled in Cash Upon Conversion� (�FSP APB 14-1�). As part of this adoption, we recorded an additional $0.7 million in
interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2009, and we retrospectively adjusted interest expense by an additional $0.9 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2008. Interest expense due to the accretion of the Senior Notes decreased by $0.2 million during the three
months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008 due to the repurchase of $64.0 million in aggregate principal amount of
Senior Notes in February and March 2009. Interest expense due to deferred financing fees remained relatively constant during the first three
months of 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008.

Our weighted average interest rate per annum was approximately 5.6% on March 31, 2009 and 5.5% on March 31, 2008. On March 31, 2009,
the interest rates for all of our outstanding notes payable were fixed.

Gain on extinguishment of debt. Gain on extinguishment of debt totaled $28.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009, and zero for
the three months ended March 31, 2008. During the first quarter of 2009, we recognized a gain of $28.0 million due to the repurchase and
cancellation of $64.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes.

Income from discontinued operations. Income from discontinued operations was zero during the three months ended March 31, 2009 as
compared to $5.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008. As described under ��Investing Activities�Dispositions,� no hotels were sold
during 2009 and two hotels were sold during 2008. Consistent with FASB Statement No. 144, �Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,� we have reclassified the results of operations for these two hotels as discontinued operations.

Dividends paid on unvested restricted stock compensation. Due to our adoption of FASB Staff Position No. EITF 03-6-1, �Determining Whether
Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities� (�FSP EITF 03-6-1�) during the first quarter of 2009,
common stock dividends earned on our unvested restricted stock awards was $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 as
compared to $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008.

Preferred stock dividends and accretion. Preferred stock dividends and accretion decreased $45,000, or 0.9%, during the three months ended
March 31, 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008, due to a decrease in the dividend rate for our Series C preferred stock to $0.393 per
share during the first quarter of 2009 from $0.404 per share during the same period in 2008.

Investing Activities

Acquisitions. Consistent with our cycle-appropriate strategy, we did not acquire any hotel properties during either the first quarter ended
March 31, 2009 or the year ended December 31, 2008. In September 2008, we acquired 32.6 acres of land underlying our Renaissance Orlando
hotel using available cash on hand for $30.7 million, including costs of the acquisition. Prior to our acquisition, the land had been leased from a
third party. As a result of this acquisition, property tax, ground lease and insurance expense has been reduced by $0.6 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2009.

We expect to make few hotel acquisitions until the early growth phase of the lodging cycle. We generally expect acquisition opportunities will
continue to be limited in 2009 due to the state of the credit markets and uncertainty regarding near-term business operations.

Dispositions. We did not sell any hotels during the three months ended March 31, 2009. Consistent with our cycle-appropriate strategy, we were
a net seller of hotels in 2008. In May 2008, we sold the Hyatt Regency Century Plaza for net proceeds of $358.8 million, and a net gain of $42.1
million. In July 2008, we used a portion of the net proceeds to repay amounts outstanding under our $200.0 million credit facility (the �credit
facility�), which had been used to fund the repurchase of 7,374,179 shares of our common stock for $129.0 million (excluding fees and costs) in a
modified �Dutch Auction� tender offer (the �Tender Offer�). Although our current intention is to retain a portion of the remaining proceeds until we
see signs of a recovery of the lodging cycle, we continue to analyze alternatives for the reinvestment of the remaining proceeds, which,
depending on market conditions, may include hotel acquisitions, debt repayments (including the Note Tender Offer), securities repurchases,
other types of investments, or other general corporate needs. In December 2008, we sold the Crowne Plaza in Grand Rapids, Michigan for net
proceeds of $3.6 million, including a $2.0 million note receivable that we collected in January 2009, and a net loss of $16.1 million. Consistent
with our strategic plan, we continue to evaluate the potential divestiture of certain non-core hotels, which may be completed as a portfolio sale,
single asset sales, or not at all, depending on market conditions.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historical. During the periods presented, our sources of cash included our operating activities, working capital, sales of hotel properties and
other assets, distributions received from our unconsolidated joint ventures and proceeds from our credit facility. Our primary uses for cash were
for capital expenditures for hotels, operating expenses, repayment of notes payable (including repurchases of Senior Notes), repurchases of our
common stock and dividends on our common and preferred stock. Recently, the capital markets have experienced extreme price volatility,
dislocations and liquidity disruptions, all of which have exerted downward pressure on stock prices, widened credit spreads on prospective debt
financing and led to declines in the market values of U.S. and foreign stock exchanges. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that traditional
sources of funds will be available in the future.

Operating activities. Our cash provided by operating activities fluctuates primarily as a result of changes in RevPAR and operating flow through
of our hotels. Our net cash provided by operating activities may also be affected by changes in our portfolio resulting from hotel acquisitions,
dispositions or renovations. Net cash provided by operating activities was $11.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 compared to
$21.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008. This decrease was primarily due to decreased earnings at our hotels during the three
months ended March 31, 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008.

Investing activities. Our cash used in investing activities fluctuates primarily as a result of acquisitions, dispositions and renovations of hotels.
Net cash used in investing activities during the first three months of 2009 compared to the first three months of 2008 was as follows (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2009

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008

Proceeds from sale of hotel properties and other assets $ 2,584 $ �  
Restricted cash � replacement reserve 2,654 1,206
Cash received from unconsolidated joint ventures �  4,000
Acquisitions of hotel properties �  (11)
Renovations and additions to hotel properties and other real estate (13,812) (31,809)

$ (8,574) $ (26,614)

Pursuant to our cycle-appropriate strategy, we did not acquire any hotels during either the three months ended March 31, 2009 or 2008. Net cash
used in investing activities was $8.6 million during the first three months of 2009 compared to $26.6 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2008. During the three months ended March 31, 2009, we received $2.6 million from the sale of hotel properties and other assets,
which included a $2.0 million payment on a note receivable from the buyer of a hotel we sold in December 2008, $0.3 million from the sale of
artwork located in one of our hotels, and $0.3 million from the sale of a vacant parcel of land. In addition, we decreased the balance in our
restricted cash replacement reserve accounts by $2.7 million, and paid cash of $13.8 million for renovations to our hotels. During the same
period in 2008, we paid an additional $11,000 for two hotels acquired in 2007. In addition, we paid cash of $31.8 million for renovations to our
hotels, received $4.0 million from one of our unconsolidated joint ventures and decreased the balance in our restricted cash replacement reserve
accounts by $1.2 million.

Financing activities. Our cash used in financing activities fluctuates primarily as a result of our issuance and repayment of notes payable,
including the repurchase of Senior Notes, draws and repayments on our credit facility and the issuance and repurchase of other forms of capital,
including preferred equity and common stock. Net cash used in financing activities was $45.8 million for the three months ended March 31,
2009 compared to $39.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008. Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended
March 31, 2009 consisted primarily of $33.3 million of principal payments on our notes payable, including the repurchase of Senior Notes, and
$12.5 million of dividends paid to our stockholders. Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2008 consisted
primarily of $14.0 million of principal payments on notes payable and our credit facility, $11.8 million used to repurchase shares of our common
stock and $26.0 million of dividends paid to our stockholders, partially offset by draws on our credit facility of $12.0 million.

Future. We expect our primary uses of cash to be for acquisitions of hotels, capital expenditures for hotels, operating expenses, repayment of
principal on our notes payable and credit facility, including the Note Tender Offer, interest expense and dividends. We expect our primary
sources of cash will continue to be our operating activities, working capital, notes payable and our credit facility, sales of hotel properties,
including the net remaining proceeds from the sale of the Hyatt Regency Century Plaza, and proceeds from public and private offerings of debt
securities and common and preferred stock. Our ability to incur additional debt depends on a number of factors, including our leverage, the value
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existing notes payable and our credit facility, as well as other factors affecting the general willingness or ability of lenders to provide loans. Our
ability to raise funds through the issuance of equity securities depends on, among other things, general market conditions for hotel companies
and REITs and market perceptions about us. Recently, the capital markets have experienced extreme price volatility, dislocations and liquidity
disruptions, all of which have exerted downward pressure on stock prices, widened credit spreads on prospective debt financing and led to
declines in the market values of U.S. and foreign stock exchanges. We will continue to analyze alternate sources of capital in an effort to
minimize our capital costs and maximize our financial flexibility. However, when needed, the capital markets may not be available to us on
favorable terms or at all.

We expect that we will need approximately $130.0 million to consummate the amended Note Tender Offer if fully subscribed. We intend to
fund the actual amount needed to repurchase the Senior Notes validly tendered (and the related consents) with one or more of the following:
cash on hand, proceeds from one or more borrowings under our credit facility, proceeds from one or more new secured financings of our
unencumbered assets, proceeds from asset sales and/or one or more capital market transactions, which may include senior debt, preferred equity
or common equity.

We believe that our current cash balance, our cash flow from operations and our unencumbered properties will provide us with sufficient
liquidity, including after the consummation of the Note Tender Offer, to meet our current operating expenses and other expenses directly
associated with our business (including payment of dividends on our capital stock, if declared) for the foreseeable future, and in any event for at
least the next 12 months. As of March 31, 2009, our credit facility had no amount outstanding, and had $3.5 million backing outstanding
irrevocable letters of credit, leaving up to $196.5 million available under the credit facility. We are currently negotiating the terms of an
amendment to our credit facility, as discussed below under ��Financial Covenants.�

Debt. During the first quarter of 2009, we repurchased $64.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes for $30.8 million,
including $0.4 million in interest, using available cash on hand. After repurchase, such Senior Notes were cancelled. We wrote off $1.4 million
in deferred financing fees and $4.2 million of the Senior Note discount, and recognized a net gain of $28.0 million on this early extinguishment
of debt.

As of March 31, 2009, we had $1.6 billion of debt, $173.9 million of cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, and total assets of $2.7
billion. We believe that by controlling debt levels, we can achieve lower capital costs than more highly leveraged companies.

As of March 31, 2009, all of our outstanding debt had fixed interest rates. The majority of our mortgage debt is in the form of single asset loans.
We believe this structure is appropriate for the operating characteristics of our business and provides flexibility for assets to be sold subject to
the existing debt. The weighted average term to maturity of our debt is 7.7 years, and the weighted average interest rate on our debt is 5.6%. Our
first loan maturity, the $81.0 million mortgage on the New York Hilton Times Square, is in December 2010.

Financial Covenants. We are subject to compliance with various covenants under both the credit facility and the Series C preferred stock. If we
fail to meet the credit facility�s covenants, we will be in default of the credit facility, which may result in a reduction in, or the elimination of,
funds available under the credit facility. If we fail to meet certain financial covenants with respect to our Series C preferred stock, the Series C
holder would be entitled to elect one member to our board of directors and to receive a default dividend of 0.50% of its liquidation preference
per quarter (as defined in the articles supplementary for the Series C preferred stock) in addition to any other dividend to which it is entitled, and
we would be restricted from paying dividends on our common stock. We believe if economic trends continue to negatively affect the demand for
our hotels, we may fail to meet our financial covenants under the credit facility and the Series C preferred stock within the next 12 to 24 months.
If we fail to meet the financial covenants with respect to the Series C preferred stock, we may seek an agreement with the holders of the Series C
preferred stock to amend the financial covenants, although there is no assurance that we would be successful in such negotiations.

We have reached an agreement in principle with two lead credit facility banks to amend our credit facility. Under the terms of the agreement, the
credit facility will be converted to an $85.0 million senior secured facility secured by mortgages on five of the Company�s currently
unencumbered hotels. The amount available under the amended credit facility at any given time will be dependent on the value of the borrowing
base of assets included as collateral. The terms of the amendment provide adequate credit facility availability, reducing the minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio from 1.50:1.00 to 1.00:1.00 with flexibility to drop to 0.90:1.00 for up to four quarters. The initial interest rate of the
amended facility is expected to be approximately 375 basis points over LIBOR, which is an increase from the current rate of 90 to 150 basis
points over LIBOR, depending on the type of the advance and certain financial ratios. The term of the credit facility will not be extended and
will expire on July 11, 2011, unless the Company complies with certain requirements to extend the term for an additional year. While we
currently expect to close on the amended facility in the second quarter, no assurances can be made that the amendment will close on the terms
described herein, or at all.

Additionally, we believe we could obtain mortgages on, or pledge to a secured facility, one or more of our ten unencumbered hotels, and we may
secure certain of these hotels in connection with the proposed amendment to the credit facility discussed above. These ten hotels had an
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aggregate of 3,119 rooms as of March 31, 2009, and generated $34.2 million in revenue during the first three months of 2009.

Cash Balance. We intend to continue to maintain higher than historical cash balances until such time as we see signs of a recovery of the
lodging cycle. We believe that by minimizing our need to access external capital by maintaining higher than typical cash balances during the
current cyclical decline, our financial security and flexibility have been meaningfully enhanced.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our payment obligations and commitments as of March 31, 2009 (in thousands):

Payment due by period

Contractual obligations Total
Less than

1 year
1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Notes payable $ 1,645,808 $ 13,703 $ 362,145 $ 97,193 $ 1,172,767
Interest obligations on notes payable 674,271 91,890 162,989 132,798 286,594
Operating lease obligations 308,967 4,979 8,673 8,628 286,687
Construction commitments 15,457 15,457 �  �  �  
Employment obligations 2,977 865 1,300 812 �  

Total $ 2,647,480 $ 126,894 $ 535,107 $ 239,431 $ 1,746,048

Capital Expenditures and Reserve Funds

We believe we maintain each of our hotels in good repair and condition and in general conformity with applicable franchise and management
agreements, ground and air leases, laws and regulations. Our capital expenditures primarily relate to the ongoing maintenance of our hotels and
are budgeted in the reserve accounts described in the following paragraph. We also incur capital expenditures for renovation and development.
We invested $13.8 million in our hotels during the first three months of 2009. For 2009, our renovation budget includes $15.5 million of
contractual construction commitments. If we acquire, renovate or develop additional hotels in the future, our capital expenditures will increase.

With respect to our hotels that are operated under management or franchise agreements with major national hotel brands and for all of our hotels
subject to first mortgage liens, we are obligated to maintain a furniture, fixtures and equipment (�FF&E�) reserve account for future planned and
emergency-related capital expenditures at these hotels. The amount funded into each of these reserve accounts is determined pursuant to the
management, franchise and loan agreements for each of the respective hotels, ranging between 3.0% and 5.0% of the respective hotel�s total
annual revenue. As of March 31, 2009, $22.9 million was held in FF&E reserve accounts for future capital expenditures at our hotels. According
to the respective loan agreements, the reserve funds are to be held by the lenders or managers in restricted cash accounts. We generally are not
required to spend the entire amount in the FF&E reserve accounts each year.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Our off-balance sheet arrangements consist of our ownership interest in two joint ventures. For further discussion of these joint ventures and
their effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

26

Edgar Filing: Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 49



Table of Contents

Seasonality

As is typical of the lodging industry, we experience some seasonality in our business as indicated in the table below. Revenue for certain of our
hotels is generally affected by seasonal business patterns (e.g., the first quarter is strong in Orlando, the second quarter is strong for the
Mid-Atlantic business hotels, and the fourth quarter is strong for New York City). Quarterly revenue also may be adversely affected by
renovations, our managers� ability to generate business and by events beyond our control, such as extreme weather conditions, terrorist attacks or
alerts, public health concerns, airline strikes or reduced airline capacity, economic factors and other considerations affecting travel. Revenues for
our comparable hotel portfolio by quarter during 2007 and 2008, and our total hotel portfolio by quarter for 2008 and 2009 were as follows
(dollars in thousands):

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter Total

Revenues
2007 Comparable Hotel Portfolio (41 hotels) (1) $ 189,516 $ 215,346 $ 212,371 $ 238,610 $ 855,843
2007 revenues as a percentage of total 22.1% 25.2% 24.8% 27.9% 100.0%
2008 Comparable Hotel Portfolio (41 hotels) (1) $ 192,056 $ 219,866 $ 209,307 $ 218,495 $ 839,724
2008 revenues as a percentage of total 22.9% 26.2% 24.9% 26.0% 100.0%
2008 Total Hotel Portfolio (43 hotels) (2) $ 218,745 $ 249,093 $ 233,367 $ 248,606 $ 949,811
2008 revenues as a percentage of total 23.0% 26.2% 24.6% 26.2% 100.0%
2009 Total Hotel Portfolio (43 hotels) (2) $ 184,598

(1) Includes hotel properties owned on March 31, 2009, excluding hotels that experienced material disruption during the reporting periods
(Renaissance Baltimore and Renaissance Orlando).

(2) Includes all hotel properties owned on March 31, 2009.
Inflation

Inflation may affect our expenses, including, without limitation, by increasing such costs as labor, food, taxes, property and casualty insurance
and utilities.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (�GAAP�). The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience, information that is currently available to us and
on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the most significant judgments and estimates
used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

� Impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill. We periodically review each property and any related goodwill for possible
impairment. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment
recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the assets. In
this analysis of fair value, we use discounted cash flow analysis to estimate the fair value of our properties taking into account each
property�s expected cash flow from operations, holding period and proceeds from the disposition of the property. The factors
addressed in determining estimated proceeds from disposition include anticipated operating cash flow in the year of disposition and
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terminal capitalization rate. Our judgment is required in determining the discount rate applied to estimated cash flows, growth rate of
the properties, the need for capital expenditures, as well as specific market and economic conditions. Additionally, the classification
of these assets as held-for-sale (if applicable) requires the recording of these assets at their estimated fair value less estimated selling
costs which can affect the amount of impairment recorded. We account for goodwill in accordance with FASB Statement No. 142,
�Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,� which states that goodwill has an indefinite useful life that should not be amortized but should
be reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be
impaired, as well as FASB Statement No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements� for financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities,
which establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements by establishing a fair
value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The review of any potential goodwill
impairment requires estimates of fair value for our properties that have goodwill arising from unallocated acquisition costs. These
estimates of fair value are prepared using the procedures described above. During the three months ended March 31, 2009, the
economic environment relating to four of our properties continued to decline, implying that an indication of impairment may exist.
Accordingly, we determined that a step one analysis should be performed as of March 31, 2009. In conjunction with our step one
impairment evaluation, we determined that the goodwill associated with four of our hotels may be impaired as of March 31, 2009,
and, accordingly, we performed a step two analysis and recorded an impairment loss of $3.6 million to goodwill and other
impairment losses.
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� Depreciation and amortization expense. Depreciation expense is based on the estimated useful life of our assets. The life of the
assets is based on a number of assumptions, including the cost and timing of capital expenditures to maintain and refurbish our
hotels, as well as specific market and economic conditions. Hotel properties and other completed real estate investments are
depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from five to 35 years for buildings and improvements
and three to 12 years for furniture, fixtures and equipment. While management believes its estimates are reasonable, a change in the
estimated lives could affect depreciation expense and net income or the gain or loss on the sale of any of our hotels. We have not
changed the estimated useful lives of any of our assets during the periods discussed.

New Accounting Standards and Accounting Changes

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 160, �Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements�An Amendment of ARB
No. 51� (�FAS 160�). FAS 160 establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. FAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The adoption of FAS 160 did not
have any impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement No. 161, �Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities� (�FAS 161�). FAS 161 is
intended to improve financial reporting about derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors
to better understand their effects on an entity�s financial condition, financial performance, and cash flows. It is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. FAS 161 impacts disclosures only and did not have any impact
on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

In May 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position No. APB 14-1, �Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments that may be Settled in Cash Upon
Conversion� (�FSP APB 14-1�). FSP APB 14-1 requires that the liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments that may be settled
in cash upon conversion (including partial cash settlement) be separately accounted for in a manner that reflects an issuer�s non-convertible debt
borrowing rate at the time of issuance. As a result, the liability component is recorded at a discount reflecting its below market interest rate. The
liability component is subsequently accreted to its par value over its expected life based on a rate of interest that reflects the issuer�s
non-convertible debt borrowing rate at the time of issuance, and is reflected in the results of operations as interest expense. FSP APB 14-1 is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years.
Retrospective application to all periods presented is required and early adoption was prohibited. The Senior Notes are within the scope of FSP
APB 14-1. This change in methodology affects our calculations of net income and earnings per share as the interest rate increases to 6.5% based
on our non-convertible debt borrowing rate at the time of issuance. This change in methodology does not increase our cash interest payments.
Upon our adoption of FSP APB 14-1 on January 1, 2009, we decreased notes payable and increased equity by $16.5 million. The $16.5 million
was comprised of the original debt discount adjustment of $21.8 million less discount accretion of $5.3 million from June 2007 through
December 2008. Interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 includes $0.7 million and $0.9 million, respectively, in
accretion of the Senior Notes.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP EITF 03-6-1 which states that unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to
dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are participating securities and shall be included in the computation of earnings per
share under the two-class method. The guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008,
and interim periods within those years. All prior period earnings per share are adjusted restrospectively to conform with the provisions of FSP
EITF 03-6-1. Early adoption was not permitted. The adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-1 impacted our calculations of earnings per share for the three
months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, as earnings representing nonforfeitable dividends of $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively, were
allocated to the participating securities.

In April 2009, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 141(R)-1, �Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business
Combination That Arise from Contingencies� (�FSP FAS 141(R)-1�), to amend Statement No. 141 (revised 2007) �Business Combinations.�
FSP FAS 141(R)-1 addresses the initial recognition, measurement and subsequent accounting for assets and liabilities arising from contingencies
in a business combination, and requires that such assets acquired or liabilities assumed be initially recognized at fair value at the acquisition date
if fair value can be determined during the measurement period. If the acquisition-date fair value cannot be determined, the asset acquired or
liability assumed arising from a contingency is recognized only if certain criteria are met. FSP FAS 141(R)-1 also requires that a systematic and
rational basis for subsequently measuring and accounting for the assets or liabilities be developed depending on their nature. This FSP is
effective for assets or liabilities arising from contingencies in business combinations for which the acquisition date is during or after 2010. FSP
FAS 141(R)-1 will have an impact on accounting for business combinations once adopted but the effect is dependent upon acquisitions at that
time.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
To the extent that we incur debt with variable interest rates, our future income, cash flows and fair values relevant to financial instruments are
dependent upon prevailing market interest rates. Market risk refers to the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices and interest rates. At
March 31, 2009, none of our outstanding debt was subject to variable interest rates.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Based upon an evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures, our
Chief Executive Officer (�CEO�) and Chief Financial Officer (�CFO�) have concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�)) were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange
Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. During our fiscal quarter to which this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q relates, there
has not occurred any change in our internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II�OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
None.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes from risk factors as previously disclosed in the �Risk Factors� section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the period ended December 31, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 12, 2009.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities:

Period

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased
Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs

Maximum Number
(or Appropriate
Dollar Value) of
Shares that May

Yet
Be Purchased

Under
the Plans or Programs

January 1, 2009 � January 31, 2009 13,004(1) $ 5.58
February 1, 2009 � February 28, 2009 43,970(1) $ 4.28
March 1, 2009 � March 31, 2009 �  �  $ 169,600,000(2)

(1) Reflects shares of restricted common stock withheld and used for purposes of remitting withholding and payroll taxes in connection with
the release of restricted common shares to plan participants. The average price paid reflects the average market value of shares withheld
for tax purposes.

(2) On December 11, 2008, the Company�s board of directors authorized the repurchase of the Company�s common stock, Series A preferred
stock, Series C preferred stock and the Senior Notes or repayment of secured debt for an aggregate purchase price and/or payment of up to
$200.0 million on or prior to December 31, 2009 (the �2009 Repurchase Program�). During the three months ended March 31, 2009, the
Company repurchased $64.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes for $30.8 million, including $0.4 million in interest.
As of March 31, 2009, the Company has $169.6 million available to repurchase securities or to repay any secured debt under the 2009
Repurchase Program.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.
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Item 5. Other Information
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
The following Exhibits are filed as a part of this report:

Exhibit

Number Description

  4.1 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 29, 2008, among Sunstone Hotel Partnership, LLC, Sunstone Hotel Investors,
Inc., certain subsidiaries of Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

10.1 Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated January 22, 2009, by and between Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc. and
Arthur L. Buser, Jr.

31.1 Certification of CEO Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of CFO Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc.

Date: May 7, 2009 By: /s/ Kenneth E. Cruse
Kenneth E. Cruse

(Principal Financial Officer and Duly Authorized Officer)
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